Children, participation, projects – how to make it work!

Project on "Children, democracy and participation in society"

Integrated project "Making democratic institutions work"

Council of Europe

French edition:

La participation des enfants aux projets – Comment faire pour que ça marche!

The opinions expressed in this work are those of the author(s) and do not all necessarily reflect the official policy of the Council of Europe.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic (CD-Rom, Internet, etc.) or mechanical, including photocopying, recording or any information storage or retrieval system, without the prior permission in writing from the Publishing Division, Communication and Research Directorate.

Cover design: Graphic Design Workshop, Council of Europe Council of Europe F-67075 Strasbourg Cedex

©Council of Europe, 2004 Printed in Germany

Contents

What is participation?	5
Why should children participate?	5
What is a participation project?	6
Who is this booklet for? What are its aims?	6
What are the benefits of participation?	7
What are the impacts on school and community life?	9
What should be done before starting?	10
How can networks be created and used?	11
How can a project be made as child-friendly as possible?	12
What are useful documentation and dissemination strategies?	14
Why evaluate the project?	15
What is a successful evaluation?	15
For more information	17

What is participation?

"Participation" means that children¹ express their views and relate their experiences, and that these are given weight in the decision-making process. The right to participate in decisions that affect one's own life is a fundamental human right, enshrined in Article 12 of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child. Along with the protection of children and provision of children's basic needs, participation is one of the three key principles of the convention, which has been adopted by almost all states of the world. Article 12 reads:

... States Parties shall assure to the child who is capable of forming his or her own views the right to express those views freely in all matters affecting the child, the views of the child being given due weight in accordance with the age and maturity of the child

Despite the possibility for children's expression afforded by the convention, children still feel quite often that adults neither listen to nor respect their views. They still have a weak position in modern societies, low status, little power and often no control over their own lives within the family, school, residential institutions, community, social services and politics.

Why should children participate?

"Planning something for children without asking them is absolutely stupid." (Norwegian boy, 11 years old)

According to the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child, children are not mere objects of decisions taken by adults, but active, equal citizens and social actors. This means that children should be valued as people in their own right, rather than as mere adjuncts to their parents.

If children and their needs are taken seriously, they should be given the possibility to express their views, formulate their thoughts and make decisions that are relevant for their lives. Children themselves are the experts for their own lives, in all its aspects and dimensions.

^{1. &}quot;Children" should be taken to mean those under 18 years of age, or up to the age of majority if lower. This definition follows United Nations usage in the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child. Concerning the suggestions in this text, the reader should use discretion in interpreting what better applies to small children or to older age groups.

It is clear that children, depending on their age and degree of maturity, need support from their parents and other adults. Nevertheless, there are vast numbers of things that children can decide and realise by themselves. The aim of participation is to make children visible in social life and policy, as well as to promote education for democratic citizenship by giving children opportunities to learn democratic rules and procedures practically, and to be treated and respected as equal citizens.

Participatory processes will help to achieve these aims. It is a great challenge to make participation a reality for all children so that they are empowered to contribute to decisions that affect them as individuals and as a group, on local and national levels.

What is a participation project?

A participation project is one in which children are directly involved in decision making relating to a project on themes relevant to their lives, such as a play space, public transit, school issues, city festivals. In brief, a participation project is about planning things with children, for children.

Who is this booklet for? What are its aims?

This booklet is addressed to people who want to meet the challenge of children's participation by carrying out projects in which they directly work with children and who want to convince others of the need for children's participation.

The following presents a brief overview on important issues related to the preparation and implementation of participation projects with children. You will find information on: things to consider before setting up such projects; practical questions regarding child-friendly approaches; setting up and using networks; and the documentation, dissemination and evaluation of your work.

You will also find several examples of successful strategies for this type of project that have been identified by the Council of Europe's project on "Children, democracy and participation in society", which was carried out by a pan-European project working group.

What are the benefits of participation?...

In the beginning, you may be confronted with negative or even hostile remarks, with barriers and obstacles on different levels. People may not understand why the participation of children is important, why they should support your project, or what the outcomes will be.

Participation projects can be successful if all involved people and institutions benefit from them, such as children, parents, teachers, other adults, schools, local authorities and communities, funding bodies and other stakeholders. One of the first things you need to do is to convince politicians and other key decision makers or fund givers that children's participation works and that it is their fundamental right to be given a voice in matters that concern them.

... for children?

- They are taken seriously by adults. Ideally, they become acquainted with a culture of democratic decision making, in which children and adults are equals.
- They participate actively in areas of life which are normally off-limits to children, such as decisions making on a local policy level. This gives children a sense of importance and builds up their self-confidence.
- They are educated for democratic citizenship, by directly learning how democracy works.
- Participating in a decision-making culture can increase respect for property and goods held in common. For example, children report that they handle new equipment and installations more carefully if they have participated in the decision-making process on what equipment should be bought and how it should be installed.
- They learn from each other. In mixed age groups, younger children learn from the older ones who serve as role models in demonstrating self-confidence, for example by giving speeches to adult audiences. Older children learn to treat younger ones thoughtfully, with respect and consideration, and, when necessary, give them protection. Generally speaking, participation projects are opportunities for peer education in both directions, enhancing the development of mutual respect between different age groups.
- They learn to work as part of a team, which has a positive effect on relationships between children. In mixed groups, gender equality is reinforced.

- They learn that, in well-implemented projects, participation can be fun, lively and enjoyable.
- They develop important personal and social skills, such as methods of conflict resolution, decision making and communication. In some projects, they learn to speak in public in front of adults, and to explain why they hold a certain opinion or why they reject or dislike something.

... for adults?

- Learning from children is part of an adult education experience.
- Adults get more in touch with children's views, and realise the great potential
 of the young generation. They discover how sophisticated, sensitive and
 thoughtful children's views are, and how much knowledge they have on
 different topics.
- They become more receptive of new ideas raised by children. Participation
 projects can increase adults' awareness of the needs, opinions and wishes of
 children, particularly as a vulnerable group of society.
- The active involvement of adults in participation projects leads to more tolerance and respect towards children. An adult's experience of getting to know children from social groups with which he or she has had little contact, may increase respect and tolerance for that particular group.
- Adults learn to share power with children.
- Participation projects strengthen intergenerational dialogue. For example, adults can learn more about the conditions of modern childhood, which may differ greatly from their own.
- Relationships between adults and children can improve due to the experiences shared while working on the project. For example, pupils and teachers involved in such projects have reported improved relations.

... for society and politics?

- Participation projects raise awareness of children's views and needs on the policy-making level.
- The benefits children reap from working on a participation project are beneficial for the whole of society as well. Girls and boys who are empowered to

form and defend their own opinions, who are aware of their skills and needs, and have experienced practical democratic decision making, are competent, responsible citizens who will contribute to society's continuity and further development. Participation projects help to consolidate democracy, encourage lifelong responsibilities of children and foster the development of civil society.

What are the impacts on school and community life?

- Children who have played an important and active role in democratic decision making enrich the social life of their school and community.
- The involvement of local authorities in participation projects can increase
 awareness of children's rights within the community. Local politicians and
 authorities learn about children's needs and interests, their worldviews and
 they way they approach problems. Children's participation can become a core
 element of the life of the community.
- Children's devotion of their time to community concerns can change their standing in that community and influence adults' views on participation.
- Participation projects can lead to the creation of new common spaces in the municipality, such as re-structured playgrounds and schoolyards.
- More respect towards individual and common goods is another positive effect of participation projects.

The participation of children in many cases facilitates the creation of a tolerant, non-violent, safe, community environment by fostering a culture of mutual respect, trust, democratic decision making and citizenship. Participation can help children to appreciate the value of joint actions and may help prevent violence. Moreover, an increase in trust generally leads to an increase in safety.

How does it work in practice?

Raising awareness on the importance of children's participation on the political level might be very time consuming but once done it can be very worthwhile. Political support is essential for the successful implementation of a children's participation project. The strategies to convince politicians are many: informing them about children's rights by organising training courses, publicity and information campaigns or conferences. Or, simply invite politicians to meet children and listen to them, explaining the benefits of participation projects for their work and for the whole society.

What should be done before starting?

Careful preparatory work is essential for the successful implementation of children's participation projects. Much of the work has to be done by adults, but the involvement of children in the planning process is very important. This can be done by having children assess the project plan to sharpen its focus.

The following is a checklist of pre-project tasks:

- define the objectives of your project;
- develop the project design and prepare a brief description of the project;
- convince key people, find potential partners and create strong networks;
- develop child-friendly tools and methods. Publications such as *Participation Spice it up!* (Save the Children Foundation, UK) can provide a lot of useful information (see end of this document for other relevant texts).
- establish project management tools, including schedules, distribution of tasks and communication systems;
- set up co-operation with relevant media;
- collect information on existing programmes and initiatives for children, such as national programmes that could serve as a frame for your planned project;
- consider time and other resources needed for the evaluation process;
- organise any needed training for the adults involved in your project; this will greatly improve the results.

One of the most important pre-project tasks is resource planning. Participation projects require commitment in terms of different resources, and if the project is to be successful, you need to consider:

- fund raising strategies, including international donors, co-financing strategies, corporate sponsorships;
- staff time, including time for training, ongoing communication with the working group and other involved or affected people, regular evaluation meetings, and general administration;
- extra costs, such as training for adults on the project, expenditure for materials to be used during the project, expenses for children to attend meetings;

 other resources, for example access to telephones and computers so that children can carry out tasks independently.

There is often concern about the resources needed to allow the meaningful involvement of children. In order to justify the extra costs, consider all the resources that will be wasted on facilities and services that do not meet the needs of this particular group. Further, imagine the indirect advantages that children, as well as adults, the community and the whole society will get out of children's participation.

How does it work in practice?

The following fund raising strategies have proven successful:

- a co-financing strategy, which means that the participation project is funded by different bodies (ministries, municipalities, local authorities and other stakeholders);
- international donors and sponsorships, when funds are not available on the national, regional or local levels;
- corporate sponsorship is another strategy to put children's proposals and ideas into practice (for example sponsoring new equipment for a playground).

How can networks be created and used?

A participation project does not include only children and the adults who support them. There is a wide range of other people and institutions that might be directly or indirectly involved: colleagues, teachers, parents, local authorities, politicians, funding bodies, other stakeholders and the local population. The number of associated people and/or institutions depends on your project's objectives and scope. People who will be involved or affected by your planned project need to be committed to the rights of children, and recognise that the benefits will outweigh any extra resources and time that will be needed.

To establish strong networks, it would be useful to distribute a short outline of your project proposal to potential partners, which should include objectives, target groups and exepted benefits for all actors.

To make your networking effective, it is important to use existing structures, contacts and co-operation work among adults. Build upon positive experiences with other children's participation projects from the past.

Possible co-operation partners are:

- schools and other child/youth related institutions, such as kindergartens, youth centres, residential institutions:
- institutions where children spend their leisure time, for example sports and leisure centres and associations, as well as cultural institutions, including theatres and galleries;
- other professionals who are working with children, such as social workers:

How does it work in practice?

Schools can play an important role in implementing a participation project. Children are easily accessible regardless of their social or ethnic background and school staff is used to working with children and child-friendly methods. Schools are at the centre of children's lives, and there is a wide range of schools from which to choose in each country.

- local politicians and authorities, as well as high-level policy makers;
- non-governmental organisations (NGOs);
- parents (and/or parents associations).

How can a project be made as child-friendly as possible?

Participation projects with children can be managed adequately only if the whole process is designed in a child-friendly way, with due attention to the age of the children.

The role of the involved adults is to create a child-friendly project design and to put it into practice. Be aware that you play a supportive and not an intervening role; it is the children who are responsible for the content and who are the real experts. The following will help you ensure that your project is as suitable as possible for the young.

- Treat children with the same respect as adults, and take their views and interests seriously. This will help them feel important.
- Treat all of the involved children equally.
- Choose a topic that is attractive to children and one that they are comfortable with. It should be as concrete as possible and be closely related to their daily lives. If necessary, provide background material.

- Involve children as early as possible ideally, during the preparation phase as this strengthens their motivation and identification with the project's objectives.
- Invite and encourage all children to participate in the project.
 Keep the project open for all children, regardless of their social, cultural or ethnic background and status, or their performance at school.
- Try to guarantee easy access to information on the project and its outcomes for the children involved, as well as outsiders.
- Keep the organisational structures and procedures transparent, including schedules, and session rules.
- Create an open, tolerant and nurturing environment that encourages the children to say what they think. Give everyone the opportunity to express his or her opinion.
- Use the type of language that children can understand, and listen carefully to what they have to say.
 All written material should take into account the ages of the children working on the project.
- Use child-friendly settings, methods and facilitation techniques, such as small working groups, amusing games, varied materials, photos, paintings, symbols, such as animals, flowers, smiling faces, and moderating cards and colours.

How does it work in practice?

In general, a child-friendly design takes the needs of children into account in an enjoyable way, with due consideration to their age and degree of maturity. One of the many child-friendly methods possible is the James Bond game, which is appropriate for children aged 6 to 10. This game aims at the exploration of a site or playground, and children usually adore it as they behave like spies on a secret mission. Children explore the area around freestanding posts by performing tasks, such as searching for something colourful or something spiky in this area. Finally, they are asked what they like/dislike in the area. This method is more fun for children than, for example, being formally interviewed about their preferences concerning their play areas.

Symbols of appreciation and visible signs of sharing power are extremely important for children. For example, at a local children's council in France, children participate in all important ceremonies and festivities of the community, hold speeches in front of an adult audience as well as the mayor, and represent the community in mayor-like roles in ceremonies. Children are allowed to wear the tricolour sash as well as the mayor, which has an enormous symbolic value for them.

- Be careful to not overstrain children, for example involving them in a long conversation about their playground and in doing so, denying them play-time.
- Be honest and explain to children, giving concrete reasons, when you think that their ideas are not realistic.
- Think of small symbolic objects to express your appreciation, such as diplomas, personal letters, stickers, badges, pins and mouse pads.
- Take into account that children and adults have different time horizons. It is
 motivating for children to achieve at least some results promptly. Visibility of
 results is a main factor of success in children's views.
- Be self-critical and flexible. If some methods, tools or approaches turn out to be not child-friendly enough, you need to adapt your original ideas to the children's needs and requirements. This may affect the way certain things are done and their duration

Working with children requires specific skills and competences, such as flexibility, sympathy, patience and creativity. Special training may be of particular importance in order to acquire or improve these skills and competences. When they are involved in successful, child-centred participation projects, children feel happy, valued and learn that participation can be fun – and that's what really counts.

What are useful documentation and dissemination strategies?

Sharing both good and bad experiences from your participation project with others is important. The information you may want to share could include the project description, workshop reports, activity reports, method diagrams and advice tool kits. In order to guarantee an efficient information flow, you should consider the following.

- The material has to be prepared by children and/or adults in a child-friendly format, taking into consideration aspects such as text, layout, pictures and paintings.
- Information on the project has to be easily accessible. The Internet provides excellent possibilities for an exchange of information.

- The development of public relations and publicity strategies through various media is essential, and has to be considered during the planning phase of the project.
- Documents should ideally be available in the national language, and another European language of regional importance. By disseminating the results of your local project internationally, you could ultimately reinforce local/global synergy.

How does it work in practice?

It is very exciting for children to appear on television or in newspapers, and this is an excellent strategy to have their work appreciated and disseminate the results to a wider audience. Organising information campaigns, marches, exhibitions, conferences and seminars are also useful strategies to disseminate the outcomes and make the public listen to children's voices. Be aware that children themselves can contribute a lot to efficient and child-centred documentation and dissemination, through writing articles, drawing and preparing documents for other children.

Why evaluate the project?

Systematic and regular evaluation is a very important element of long-term or ongoing children's participation projects, and it enables you to improve them on a continual basis. Evaluation is an excellent tool with which to examine critically the implementation process, including both positive and negative experiences. It can help to understand what the children on the project and other stakeholders think about it, why certain children withdraw from a project, and also how children's involvement influences their lives, perspectives, and political commitment on a community level.

What is a successful evaluation?

A successful evaluation should:

 involve children at all stages of the evaluation process. At the starting point, they should help decide on the evaluation criteria. During evaluation, their views should be taken into account, and they should be informed of the final results:

- consider the views and experiences of involved adults as well, with a view to improving the organisational structures and/or the project management;
- ideally be carried out by external professionals and not by involved adults;
- be part of the project plan and budgeted accordingly.
- · carried out systematically and on a regular basis

For more information

Council of Europe

"Children's participation in schools and the local community. It works!" (running title of forthcoming publication)

Committee of Ministers Recommendation No. R (98)8 on the participation of children in family and social life, available at http://www.coe.int (click on "Institutions", then on "Committee of Ministers")

For information on Council of Europe funding of pilot projects, see: www.coe.int/youth

Other activities concerning children available at http://www.coe.int (click on "Social Cohesion", then on "Social policy")

Other sources

Participation – Spice it up! Save the Children Foundation, UK

For information on European Commission funding, see: http://www.europa.eu.int UN Convention on the Rights of the Child, available on the website of the Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, http://www.unhchr.ch/html/menu2/6/crc/treaties/crc.htm

Existing participating projects

Austria: "Q.I.S. - Quality in schools - playground dreams", see: www.qis.at

Albania: "Stop child labour in Albania", see: www.crca.org.al

France: "Conseil Communal de Jeunes Brie"

Norway: "Children and youth: empowerment, participation and influence", see: www.vfk.no

Portugal: "The school and the assembly", see: www.parlamento.pt

United Kingdom: "Playing for real", see: www.devonplay.co.uk

The above-mentioned projects were visited and assessed by the working group on "Children, democracy and participation in society" (See forthcoming publication "Children's participation in schools and the local community. It works!")

This booklet was prepared as part of the Council of Europe's project "Children, democracy and participation in society" (2001-03), Directorate of Social Cohesion. It is based on material prepared by Renate Kränzl-Nagl and Ulrike Zartler from the European Centre for Social Welfare Policy and Research in Vienna, and is published by the integrated project "Making democratic institutions work".

PUBLISHED BY THE PROJECT "MAKING DEMOCRATIC INSTITUTIONS WORK"

Going for gender balance (2002) ISBN 92-871-4901-1

Women's individual voting rights – a democratic requirement (2002) ISBN 92-871-5040-0

Highway to democr@cy - the Council of Europe and the information society (2003)

ISBN 92-871-5137-7

Guarding the watchdog – the Council of Europe and the media (2003) ISBN 92-871-5249-7

Financing political parties and election campaigns – guidelines (2003) ISBN 92-871- 5356-6

To order:

Council of Europe Publications Website: http://book.coe.int E-mail: publishing@coe.int

For more information on the integrated project "Making democratic institutions work", see:

Website: www.coe.int/democracy

Sales agents for publications of the Council of Europe Agents de vente des publications du Conseil de l'Europe

AUSTRALIA/AUSTRALIE

Hunter Publications, 58A, Gipps Street AUS-3066 COLLINGWOOD, Victoria

Tel.: (61) 3 9417 5361 Fax: (61) 3 9419 7154

E-mail: Sales@hunter-pubs.com.au http://www.hunter-pubs.com.au

BELGIUM/BELGIOUE

La Librairie européenne SA 50, avenue A. Jonnart B-1200 BRUXELLES 20 Tel.: (32) 2 734 0281 Fax: (32) 2 735 0860 E-mail: info@libeurop.be http://www.libeurop.be

Jean de Lannoy 202, avenue du Roi B-1190 BRUXELLES Tel.: (32) 2 538 4308 Fax: (32) 2 538 0841

E-mail: jean.de.lannoy@euronet.be http://www.jean-de-lannoy.be

CANADA

Renouf Publishing Company Limited 5369 Chemin Canotek Road CDN-OTTAWA, Ontario, K1J 9J3 Tel.: (1) 613 745 2665

Fax: (1) 613 745 7660

E-mail: order.dept@renoufbooks.com http://www.renoufbooks.com

CZECH REPUBLIC/ RÉPUBLIQUE TCHÈQUE Suweco Cz Dovoz Tisku Praha

Ceskomoravska 21 CZ-18021 PRAHA 9 Tel.: (420) 2 660 35 364 Fax: (420) 2 683 30 42 E-mail: import@suweco.cz

DENMARK/DANEMARK

GAD Direct Fiolstaede 31-33 DK-1171 COPENHAGEN K

Tel.: (45) 33 13 72 33 Fax: (45) 33 12 54 94 E-mail: info@gaddirect.dk

FINLAND/FINLANDE

Akateeminen Kirjakauppa Keskuskatu 1, PO Box 218 FIN-00381 HELSINKI Tel.: (358) 9 121 41

Tel.: (358) 9 121 41 Fax: (358) 9 121 4450

E-mail: akatilaus@stockmann.fi http://www.akatilaus.akateeminen.com

FRANCE

La Documentation française (Diffusion/Vente France entière) 124, rue H. Barbusse F-93308 AUBERVILLIERS Cedex

Tel.: (33) 01 40 15 70 00 Fax: (33) 01 40 15 68 00

E-mail: commandes.vel@ladocfrancaise.gouv.fr http://www.ladocfrancaise.gouv.fr

Librairie Kléber (Vente Strasbourg) Palais de l'Europe F-67075 STRASBOURG Cedex Fax: (33) 03 88 52 91 21

F-6/0/5 STRASBOURG Cedex Fax: (33) 03 88 52 91 21 E-mail: librairie.kleber@coe.int

GERMANY/ALLEMAGNE AUSTRIA/AUTRICHE

UNO Verlag Am Hofgarten 10 D-53113 BONN Tel.: (49) 2 28 94 90 20 Fax: (49) 2 28 94 90 222

E-mail: bestellung@uno-verlag.de http://www.uno-verlag.de

GREECE/GRÈCE

Librairie Kauffmann 28, rue Stadiou GR-ATHINAI 10564 Tel.: (30) 1 32 22 160 Fax: (30) 1 32 30 320 E-mail: ord@otenet.gr

HUNGARY/HONGRIE

Euro Info Service Hungexpo Europa Kozpont ter 1 H-1101 BUDAPEST Tel.: (361) 264 8270 Fax: (361) 264 8271 E-mail: euroinfo@euroinfo.hu

http://www.euroinfo.hu

ITALY/ITALIE

Libreria Commissionaria Sansoni Via Duca di Calabria 1/1, CP 552 I-50125 FIRENZE Tel.: (39) 556 4831

Fax: (39) 556 41257 E-mail: licosa@licosa.com http://www.licosa.com

NETHERLANDS/PAYS-BAS

De Lindeboom Internationale Publikaties PO Box 202, MA de Ruyterstraat 20 A NL-7480 AE HAAKSBERGEN

Tel.: (31) 53 574 0004 Fax: (31) 53 572 9296 E-mail: books@delindeboom.com http://home-1-worldonline.nl/~lindeboo/

NORWAY/NORVÈGE

Akademika, A/S Universitetsbokhandel PO Box 84, Blindern N-0314 OSLO

Tel.: (47) 22 85 30 30 Fax: (47) 23 12 24 20

POLAND/POLOGNE

Główna Księgarnia Naukowa im. B. Prusa Krakowskie Przedmiescie 7 PL-00-068 WARSZAWA Tel.: (48) 29 22 66 Fax: (48) 22 26 64 49 E-mail: inter@internews.com.pl

http://www.internews.com.pl

PORTUGAL

Livraria Portugal Rua do Carmo, 70 P-1200 LISBOA Tel.: (351) 13 47 49 82 Fax: (351) 13 47 02 64

E-mail: liv.portugal@mail.telepac.pt

SPAIN/ESPAGNE

Mundi-Prensa Libros SA Castelló 37 E-28001 MADRID Tel.: (34) 914 36 37 00 Fax: (34) 915 75 39 98

E-mail: libreria@mundiprensa.es http://www.mundiprensa.com

SWITZERLAND/SUISSE

BERSY Route de Monteiller CH-1965 SAVIESE Tel.: (41) 27 395 53 33

Fax: (41) 27 395 53 34 E-mail: bersy@bluewin.ch

Adeco – Van Diermen Chemin du Lacuez 41 CH-1807 BLONAY Tel.: (41) 21 943 26 73 Fax: (41) 21 943 36 05 E-mail: info@adeco.org

UNITED KINGDOM/ROYAUME-UNI

TSO (formerly HMSO) 51 Nine Elms Lane GB-LONDON SW8 5DR Tel.: (44) 207 873 8372 Fax: (44) 207 873 8200

E-mail: customer.services@theso.co.uk http://www.the-stationery-office.co.uk http://www.itsofficial.net

UNITED STATES and CANADA/ ÉTATS-UNIS et CANADA

Manhattan Publishing Company 468 Albany Post Road, PO Box 850 CROTON-ON-HUDSON,

NY 10520, USA Tel.: (1) 914 271 5194 Fax: (1) 914 271 5856

E-mail: Info@manhattanpublishing.com http://www.manhattanpublishing.com

Council of Europe Publishing/Editions du Conseil de l'Europe